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British Campaign for the Defence

TAPOL Bulletin No. 71

of Political Prisoners and Human Rights in Indonesia

September 1985

The “G30S/PKI” symbol is the
major obstacle to democracy

On the occasion of the 20th anniversary of the seizure of power by General Suharto, TAPOL invited a former political
prisoner in Indonesia to contribute a piece for publication. The following is a translation of his article.

Here in Indonesia, people are still misled by symbols,
primarily the G305/PKI symbol.1) Facts about Untung
having carried out a military operation on 30 September
1965, about volunteers from the Pemuda Rakjat [People’s
Youth] and Gerwani[Indonesian Women's Movement] being
given military training, are regarded as the absolute
truth, the whole and complete truth. The reality is that
these facts are only part of the truth, not the whole
truth, and there is no way for the whole truth to be
disclosed here at home as long as people are transfixed
by symbols that have been mystified by the military
regime, helped along by others.

It is a matter of life and death for the Suharto
military regime which now rules the country to prevent
their lies surrounding these symbols from being exposed
for what they are. People like D.N. Aidit (PKI Chairman),
Njoto (PKI Deputy Chairman), Sakirman and Anwar Sanusi
(both Central Committee members) were all instantly
silenced for no other reason than to prevent the lies
about the G30S/PKI from being exposed. Inasfar as any. PKI
leaders were tried in the lawcourts, the primary concern
was that the person in question would not be in a
position to analyse the event in its entirety, would not
be able to deal comprehensively with the circumstances
that led to the occurrence of the G30S/PKI. The trials
also served the purpose of giving the impression that the
law still functions in Indonesia.

The tragedy of the PKl's silence

It is indeed tragic that in all these 20 years, the PKI
has not been able to present its own account of the
charges made against it, apart from a short statement
circulated by Njoto at Bogor Palace in October 1965, the
defence pleas of a few PKI leaders who were tried in
court which were mostly defensive in nature and dealt
with practical details, and the short statement issued by
the Central Committee of the PKI in October 1965, the
brief message of which was that "the G30S was an internal
affair of the Army". To the knowledge of this writer,
neither the AKI Central Cormmmittee nor anyone mandated to
speck on its behalf, nor anyone who could in an emergency
speak for it, has issued a single document capable of
smashing the symbol of the G30S/PKI.

How does one explain the fact that Munir was sentenced
to death and executed whilst Rewang was not sentenced to

1) G30S stands for the 30 September (1965) Movement; PKI
stands for Indonesian Communist Party.

death and is apparently about to be released even though
he was the principal figure in the South Blitar affair?
This has nothing to do with questions of law. The reasons
are purely political. Munir was regarded as being a
potentigl danger, someone who might have been able to
destroy that symbol, given the time and opportunity. |
Munir had the respect of his comrades. Rewang's record
during interrogation and during his detention was not
considered as anything serious by the men in power. They
saw him as a man without leadership qualities, as a
communist they had no reason to fear. Without knowing the
reasons for such intelligence analysis, the execution of
Munir comes as a 'complete surprise' while Rewang's
'release’ is incomprehensible. But one thing is clear: it
all centres on the symbol of the G30S/PKI.

It is understandable that it hos been difficult for the
PKI to expose the lies surrounding the G30S/PKI because
of its own reluctance to publicise internal party
affairs, to admit that the party's strategic defeat was
the result of a poverty of theory, mdaking it impossible
for anyone to produce a satisfactory explanation. 1t may
well be that the Untung movement would never have
happened or would not have been the fiasco it was if the
PKl1's strategy had been correct.

That Army generals succeeded in creating the G30S/PKI
is not unconnected with the pre-conditions that had been
brought about by the PKI itself. Unless people have the
courage to be completely open about their own disorders,
it will be difficult to destroy the lies surrounding the
G30S/PKI symbol. Once this has been done, the next
question people will ask is, "How was it possible for the
PKI with its three millions members, with more than a
hundred of its best cadres in the Central Cormittee, to
have been so easily and rapidly wiped off the political
map of Indonesia? How could the PKI have been swept away
in a political and military adventure, bringing about its
own destruction?' If people try to expose the lies of the
G30S/PKI symbol without having the courage to analyse the
internal facts about the PKI itself, the results will be
the same. The facts will be partial and incomplete.

All democrats will benefit from demystification of the
G30S/PKI symbol

There is a desperate need to know the absolute truth
about the G30S/PKI both here in Indonesia and elsewhere
in the world, because the G30S/PKI symbol has been a
calamity not only for communists but for the millions of












Indonesian political prisoners under sentence of death

This list includes all long-term political prisoners arrested for alleged involvement in the 1965 events who, according
to TAPOL's records, are under sentence of death. In some cases, the most recent entries go back several years.
It also includes Muslim prisoners arrested and tried in the past few years. (Corrections from readers would be welcome.)
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Name

Abdullah Alihamy
Asep Suryaman

Age Arrested Sentenced

60
é1

Azhar bin Mohammad Saofar

Boiman

Bono (Mulyono or Waluyo) 59

Anatasius Buang
Bungkus

Amar Hanafiah
Hargiyono

. Iskandar Subekti
. Ismanto

. Kamarvzaman
. Kamil

. Maman Kuswayadi

. Wismar Marpaung

. Marsudi

. Muchtar Effendi Sirat
. Moederisman

. Mulyono Suryowardoyo
. Jusuf Rabidi *

. Nurdhoyan

. Raswad

. Johan Rivai *

. Ruslan Widjajasastra *** 69

*

. Satar Suryanto

. Bambang Sispoyo
. Sudiono ***

. Sugeng Sugiarto
. Svujadi

. Sukardjo

. Sukarman

. Sukatno

LR 2R

. Sulaiman

. Sumbodo *

. Supono

. Suradi 1)

. Surmo

. Surono Hadiwiyono

. Suwandi

. Suyono

. Tamuri Hidayat

. Abdullah Umar 2)

. Giyadi Wignyosuharyo
. Wiroatmodjo

. Amin Zein
. Timzar Zubil

*

45
58

64
é1
59
57

57

LX) 62

66
56

56
é4

35°

58
65

35

(sentence under review)

1947
1971

1967
1945
1965

1965
1968
1948

1967
1965

19657

1945
19657
1965
1965
1968
1945

1966
1945

1965
1948
1945

1949
1965

1965
1968

1965?
1980
1965
1965?

1977

March 1975
August 1975
Sept. 1982
Sept. 1948

Nov. 1969
July 1971

1947

Dec. 1972
Dec. 1974
March 1948
May 1967
April 1983
1977

July 1976
Aug. 1974
Jan, 1973
1966

1948

1949
April 1948

July 1974

April 1971
May 1985
Sept. 1973
Oct. 1964

March 1949
May 1976
March 1971

Nov. 1969
Feb. 1970
March 1972
Feb. 1970

Oct. 1970
June 1973

Sept. 1947
June 1985
Oct. 1948
Oct. 1966
March 1975
March? 1978

Prison

Padang
Cipinang

Medan?
Cipinang
Cipinang
Cipinang
Banjarmasin
Cipinang
Cipinang

Cipinang?

Nusakembangan

Cipinang
Medan?

Nusakembangan

Cipinang
Cipinang
Padang

Cipinang

Cipinang
Cipinang

Cipinang
Cipinang
Pamekasan
Cipinang

Cipinang
Pamekasan
Cipinang
Cipinang
Cipinang
Cipinang
Pamekasan
Medan

Den Pasar
Jogjakarta
Cipinang
Medan
Padang
Medan

Position

Secretary, CDB Riau

PKI 'Special Bureau' and post-1945 CDB,
Central Jova

Member 'Imran's group' (Muslim)

PKI 'Special Bureou'

Army, Cakrabirawa

Army sergeant, Caokrabirawa
Secretary, South Kalimantan CDB
Army corporal

PKI Secretariat

PKI leader, North Sumatra

Head, PKI 'Special Bureau'

Army lieutenant

Member 'Imran's group' (Muslim)

Air Force sergeant-major

PKI, North Sumatra

Army officer

PKI1, Solo

Army, Cdkrabirawa

Army sergeant, Cokrabirawa
Army major

PKI and former deputy-chairman, SOBSI
Central Council till 1964
Army, Cdkrabirawa
'Komando Jihad' (Muslim)
Air Force colonel

Army, Caokrabirawa

Army sergeant, Caokrabirawa
Member CDB, East Java
Secretary-General, Pemuda Rakyat (People's
Youth)

Army, Cakrabirawa

Army lieutenant

PKI *Special Bureau'

Army captain

Army sergeant

Army, Cakrabirawa

Central Conmmittee, PKI

Army
'Komando Jihad' (Muslim)
Army sergeant, Cokrabirawa

Peasant leader and journalist
Muslim journalist

Two Suradis (both Army captains) were listed in 1980. One named Suradi Prawirodiharjo died in Cipinang prison in
1982. The other one, also held in Cipinang, was sentenced to life imprisonment but his sentence was raised to death

on appeal.

Abdullah Umar's death sentence was imposed by the High Court on appeal by the prosecutor against a life sentence
imposed by the District Court. The prosecution had asked the District Court for a death sentence.

Death sentence may have been commuted.
May already have been executed.
Clemency plea against death sentence has been rejected.

Glossary

CDB = PKI provincial committee.
= Palace Guards Regiment
All Indonesia Trade Union Federation

Cdkrabirawa
SOBSI =
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Sukatno lost his appeal at the Supreme Court and, according to AFP, has refused to ask for clemency.












Indikasi' has been used to arrest at random anyone
considered undesirable. Sadistic methods are then used
during interrogation, Including severe beatings,
electrical torture, isolation and a diet that brings on
paralysis. Detainees' relatives who know nothing at all
about the affair ore subjected to pressure and
intimidation, and threats of blackmail, ill-treated to
destroy their morale, so as to inflict psychological
pressute on the unfortunate tapol. Such treatment is
meted out not only to men but to women as well, who often
suffer the added indignity of being raped.

Having perpetrated such methods in the name of the
Pancasila and the 1945 Constitution, the rulers have
created the myth of 'new style PKI members' who are
accused of 'giving guidance' and on the basis of
'indikasi'. To this very day, after almost eleven years,
all this intolerable treatment of the tapols is still
continuing.

The trials

The trials. being conducted are clearly pursuing a
‘projected target', aimed at proving that the abortive
G30S was planned and supported by the PKI with the help
of democratic mass organisations and civilion and
military officials said to have been ‘'under FXI
guidance'. The people to be tried and the sequence in
which the trials are held is arranged in such a way as to
confirm the New Order's own construction of events. As
many people as possible have been accused of playing a
leading role, and each of them is expected to testify
against others.

On numerous occasions, my comrades have told court
hearings in Jokarta and elsewhere about detainees who
have died os a result of being tortured during
interrogation and of the inhuman treatment of prisoners
in the detention camps. One tapol had no alternative but
to confess to anything because he could not stand the
sadistic torture to which he was subjected. The mal-
treatment of women is particularly sadistic. In some
places, these poor women are stripped naked and put on a
platform during interrogations conducted at night, with a
bright petromax lamp shining on them. Some women have
been dragged around markets naked. Some have had their
vaginas burned or electrified, or have had bottles pushed
up them. Some tapols have been dragged behind trucks.
Some have become so desperate, going in and out of prison
as victims of blackmail, that they have cormmitted
suicide.

In the eyes of the fascist militarists, no violation of
the law in involved because the victims are seen as
obstacles to their policies who must be mercilessly
annihilated, even though there are people in positions of
authority who have acknowledged that ideology cannot be
stamped out by means of violence or by force of arms.

Since the PKI is regarded as a 'latent danger’,
KOPKAMTIB must stay in existence indefinitely. State
Department and Pentagon officials often praise Indonesia
as the 'free world's' strongest bastion in Southeast Asia
now that Indonesia's communists and democrats have been
successfully crushed and paralysed and at such low cost.
When the IGGI (Inter-Governmental Group on Indonesia)
raised certain objections about granting more credit
because they were pressing for more favourable
conditions, Foreign Minister Adam Malik's smart response
was; "Yes, but we succeeded brilliantly in crushing the
communists without them forking out a single dollar."

The South Blitar affair

I now come to the South Blitar question. What was the
South Blitar Affair and how did it happen? As | said in a
previous hearing a few days ago, the South Blitar Affair
occurred as the consequence of the overthrow of the
Sukarno government by General Suharto, as the consequence
of communists being placed outside the law, mdking it
possible for them to be murdered with impunity, as the

consequence of the barbarous white terror that was
unleashed everywhere. This meant that there was no
alternative for communists but to defend themselves and
resist. Is it comprehensible for anyone to face disaster
without doing something? Is it not understandable for
people placed in such circumstonces to escape from
danger, to defend themselves as best they can and to
resist in an effort to survive, in other words, to refuse
to die in vain. It is a natural human instinct to defend
one's own life, it is perfectly understandable when all
other paths are closed except self-defence, to maoke a
stand against the ammed strength of a blood-sodked,
counter-revolutionary government, to take up arms in
self-defence.

The South Blitar Affair was forced upon us by the
armed counter-revolution. Armed confrontration occurred
because of the natural human instinct to defend one's
existence when cornered in a position of extreme
adversity. Had there been no bloody oppression,
unparalleled in history for its barbarism, South Blitar
or anything like it would never have happened in such a
short space of time. Because of the ideological
weaknesses that afflicted the PKI, no-one would have
taken such an initiative of their own free will,
abandoning city life and moving into villages, still less
villages like those in South Blitar where the soil is
barren.

Tyranny had gained the upper hand, conmunists had been
placed outside the protection of the law, the Sukarno
government had been overthrown and replaced by the anti-
communist Suharto government andarmed counter-revolution
was on the rampage. These were the circumstances that
forced surviving PKI members to go to the villoges and
unite with the poor peasants in South Blitar. Being
political workers who had always regarded it as their
life's work to serve the interests of the people, the
country and the Indonesian revolution, the PKI cadres who
made their way to South Blitar did not remain idle,
resting their chins on their hands. While protecting
themselves against constant attempts to track them down,
the PKI cadres learned to live in the villages, which was
altogether different from living in the city. They
integrated themselves with the poor peasants and farm
labourers.

The (Army's) pursuit operations grew in intensity.
South Blitar was blockaded and casualties began to fall.
The homes of the peasants were burnt to the ground; no
houses or huts escaped these operations. The peasants
were forced to move out onto the roads. They were no
longer able to till their fields because the operations
gripped the area like a vice. Cassava gardens were cut to
pieces to prevent communists using them as hiding places.
Confronted by such a level of operations, the only
alternatives were to surrender and be killed or to defend
oneself, mdke best use of the opportunities available and
bredk through the encirclement.

The military regime accused

This court of the Indonesian military regime may regard
me as the accused, but in the court of history, with the
entire people acting as witnesses. | stand here as the
accuser for all the crimes against humanity already
committed, now being cormitted or still to be committed
by the present regime against the Indonesian people,
against members of the PKI and the mass organisations,
against the so-called 'remnants', in short, against all
Indonesian patriots and democrats of whatever group,
wherever they are.

| demand that the person responsible for this regime
should be tried for the crime of genocide. I call upon
this court to initiate an investigation of the mass
murders which | have spoken about repeatedly. 1 demand
that all the political prisoners should be released and
that all the torture perpetrated against the prisoners
should stop immediately. As | have already said, the vast
majority of those who are still languishing in prisons,
in places of detentions, in exile camps, are being held
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simply insisting that state regulations about religion
should not be in conflict with the laws of the various
religions. "The things 1 said are being said by other
mubalighs. These views are widely held in society. It is
quite unjust to brand me as a subversive."

(Kompas, 17 September)

More severe sentences in East Java

Court verdicts against Muslim political prisoners in
East Jave who are accused of involvement in a so-called
"Jihad' (Holy War) Cormmand are now coming thick and fast.
In TAPOL Bulletin No 70, July 1985, we reported five
sentences that had been passed by a court in Bojonegoro.
(See that issue also for an assessment of the regime's
claims about the 'Jihad' Conmand.)

The nine men on trial in Jember, East Java were all
found guilty and sentenced in late June and and July, as
follows: Karto, 15 years; Saiful alias Mustafa, 11 years;
Semaun Effendi, 13 years; Sunarso alias Hason, 14 years;
Abdusulkur, alias Anwarhadi, 12 years; Anwar, 4 years;
Sahar, 14 years; Asdin alias Muharianto, 12 years; and
Porto alias Salim 13 years.. All were found guilty of
subversion for activities in 1979 and 1980, and to have
deviated from the Pancasila ideology. According to Suara
Karya (18 July), they are all small farmers with little
education and not fluent in Indonesian.

In Probolinggo, the following sentences have been
passed: Drs Achmad Muhajir, 10 years; Untung Salim al
Hendro, 14 years; Latif, 8 years; Supan ol Supandi, 8
years; Maksum, 8 years; Parto Ali, 11 years; Suwadak, 9

years; Mashud, 9 years; and Moch. Suroyono, 14 years. All
the accused have been in detention since 26 November,
1982.

12 years for disputing Murdani's version of Tanjung Priok

In Surabaya, Ali Masrum (24), o teacher at a religious
school (madrasah) has been given a 12-year sentence for
organising lectures by lecturers from Jokarta on Islamic
values, distributing a leaflet entitled, "Chronology of
Attacks on the Muslim Conmunity in Tanjung Priok" and
circulating cassettes of lectures delivered by Amir Biki
(who was shot dead during the 12 September 1984 Tanjung
Priok massacre) and Syarifin Maloko just prior to the
Tanjung Priok demonstration. These activities were
considered by the court as being aimed at undermining
government authority and overthrowing the lawful
Indonesian government.

Ali Masrum is a well-known broadcaster on private radio
in East Java, and his popularity drew large crowds to his
trial.

The defence team protested against the Court for
holding one of the hearings in secret, in order to listen
to the cassettes containing the two offending lectures.
Answering the defence complaint that this was in
violation of the procedural code, the Court declared that
this had been done for security reasons. It was the
Court's opinion that "Amir Biki's lecture contained an
attack on the legal Indonesian government and it was not
fitting for it to be heard by the public." (Merdeka, 9
September)

The case against A.M. Fatwa

Andi Mappetahang Fatwa, a well-known Muslim preacher and political activist, used the occasion of his trial which opened
in Jakarta in August to explain his views on a range of political, social and religious matters. In a 90-page document
which he read to a packed court-room and to a large, supportive crowd following the proceedings outside, he also gave
details of the acts of terror perpetrated against him since the late 1970s and the maltreatment he has suffered since his
arrest - in his own words, "my abduction” - on 19 September last year. The following is a short summary with extracts

from this very important document:

Abduction and maltreatment in custody

Fatwa was abducted by troops of the Jakarta Military
Command while he was undergoing interrogation at a
Jakarta police station about his Idul Fitri sermon in
June last year. The police had been interrogating him
three times a week for several weeks "in a relaxed
atmosphere”, creating the impression that they were
dragging things out as if they were waiting for something
to happen.

In their abduction, the troops violated many procedural
regulations. They dragged him from the police station and
prevented his lawyer, who had been attending the police
interrogations, from accompanying him to the 'much-
feared" Guntur Military Police HQ. He found many young
detainees at Guntur, all of them Priok victims. Most had
swollen faces and other signs of maltreatment, heads
shaven bare, were dressed only in ponts and heaped
together like fish just caught in a net.

He describes his own treatment in Guntur where he
remained only one day before being transferred to
Cimanggis detention centre as follows:

"During my interrogation on that first day, two
soldiers armed with long weapons stood guard at the door.
When interrogations ended that night, these guards took
me and pushed me with their weapons into a cell at the
back, shouting abuse. This first cell was dark but
reasonably well ventilated. As we went passed Tony
Ardhie's cell, the guards doused him with several cans of
water on a cold night. After half an hour, they
transferred me to a foul-smelling cell in the central
area, ventilated by only one tiny hole at the top of a
high wall. The smell of urine was heavy, and I too had to
urinate on the floor of the cell. 1 found a section of
floor not recently urinated on, where, in this emergency,

I said my night prayers.
'Just as 1 was dozing off, the door was kicked open and
1 was ordered out, in my underwear and with my feet bare,
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The lost poge from A.M. Fatwa's speech in court
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authorities first started picking him out for attention
in 1976 because of his activities as the person in charge
of the religious programme of the Municipality, under Ali
Sadikin. The governor ignored several demands for his
dismissal but his position became more vulnerable after
Ali Sadikin was replaced as governor in 1977. In 1978, he
was arrested and held for nine months without charge for
allegedly opposing kebatinan (Javanese mysticism), and
lost all his posts in various non-official bodies.

Not long after his release from prison, he was sacked
as a civil servant by Interior Minister, General Amir
Machmud because of a sermon he gave on Idul Fitri and re-
arrested, though held this time for only two weeks,
perhaps because of critical press reporting at the time.
He never stopped preaching however, and after he signed
the Petition of Fifty in 1980, the physical and mental
terror intensified. He made various attempts to initiate
legal proceedings against senior government officials for
slanderous remarks about him.

All efforts to set himself up in business failed
because licences were refused, while his preaching
continued to be harassed. When an invitation to preach at
an Idul Fitri gathering in 1980 was withdrawn under Army
pressure and another preacher was "dropped” in his stead,
troops started firing when disturbances broke out among
the congregation. He was held for interrogation for
several days and ultimately released, again because of
the public outcry. On his way to visit relatives of
mosque officials who had been arrested because of their
efforts. to have him preach, Fatwa was abducted by the
Army and severely beaten. (His account of what happened
was published in TAPOL Bulletin, No. 43, January 1981.)

In 1982, he initiated legal proceedings against the
soldiers responsible for the incident and against Admiral
Sudomo, commander of KOPKAMTIB. as their superior. His
team of lawyers was in turn subjected to terror and
intimidation and eventually abandoned the case while
protesting strongly because their professional freedom as
lawyers had been placed in jeopardy. (See TAPOL Bulletin,
No. 55, January 1983.)

Three retired generals, Aziz Saleh, Ali Sadikin and
Hartono Dharsono took over his legal defence because they
felt they would not be likely to be terrorised. The case

proceeded but was lost. ("It would have been
inconceivable for KOPKAMTIB to be found guilty," says
Fatwa.) They appealed to the High Court which declared it
was undble to hear the case because the documents were
not considered adequate and returned it to the lower
court. "It is still therefore open to me," says Fatwa,
“to pursue the matter." The indefatigable Fatwa also
declared that he had initiated proceedings against
General Amir Machmud for unfair dismissal from the civil
service in 1979.

In October 1982, an attempt was made on his life when
thugs slashed his throat while he was driving in Jakarta.

He lists the many occasions when sermons he was
scheduled to deliver were banned by the military ("not
cancelled by mosque officials, as the indictment
claims").

Fatwa's political position

The last 30 pages of his statement are given over to a
exposition of his own political views. He has never
opposed Pancasila, he says. On the contrary, he regards
it as a crucial platform, giving all creeds and opinions
a rightful place in the Republic. He believes that the
Muslim community, comprising the vast majority of the
population, needs to have an assured place in society,
not forced to conform to Pancasila as the sole ideology.

He has never supported calls for an Islamic state but
stresses that Islam does not allow for a false separation
between politics and state affairs on the one hand, and
religion on the other. The views he expounds are
outstanding for their tolerance towards other creeds and
beliefs; they are completely free of racism and
impressive for the importance he attaches to all groups
being allowed to exercise social control under proper
democratic conditions.

Commenting on the Tanjung Priok affoir, he expresses
amazement that the many fiery sermons being delivered in
Priok in the months prior to the affair were never halted
by the security forces while his "far more moderate
sermons" were subjected to constant harassment. Without
saying so, he appears to suspect that the security forces
allowed tensions to grow, leading ultimately to the
crackdown on 12 September and the subsequent onslaught
against Muslim opposition, of which his own trial is an
important part.

New bill on the lawcourts

Lawyers are very critical of a draft bill on the law
courts which has been submitted to the DPR (the lower
legislotive assembly) by the government because it will
reinforce Executive control over the Judiciary. The bill
places judges under two authorities, the Minister of
Justice and the Supreme Court, giving the former pre-
eminence. The justice minister will exercise "guidance"
(pembinaan) over the organisation, administration and
powers of the lawcourts, while the Supreme Court will be
in charge of "technical guidance". The new law confirms
that judges are "government officials" (pegawai negeri)
and therefore bound by government policy. On top of that,
it gives the judges who preside over the district
appelate courts (pengadilan tinggi) the power to exercise
supervision over lawyers wishing to practise in all
courts of law.

Lawyers attending a seminar of Peradin, the Bar
Association, were outspoken in their rejection of the
bill which they believe will put an end to what freedoms
they still have. Haryono Tjitrosoebono, chairman of
Peradin, criticised the downgrading of the Supreme Court
which should safeguord the independence of the judiciary.
(The present structure of the Court which is chaired by
General Ali Said has in fact already put an end to such
independence.)

The status of judges as government officials has long
been an issue with lawyers who defend political cases.
With such a status, which also means that judges must

join KORPRI, the government-sponsored civil servants'
association whosemembersmay not deviate fromgovernment
policy and ideology, it is not possible for defendants to
expect a fair trial.

Lawyers in East Java were the first to experience the
effects of supervision of their profession by the law
courts when a Surabaya High Court judge announced earlier
this year that lawyers working in the province must
obtain a licence from his court in order to continue with
their practice. He also decreed that these licences are
renewable every two years.(See TAPOL Bulletin, No 48,
March 1985, page 6.) Although lawyers protested strongly
against this encroachment of their independence, the
draft bill means that the East Java precedent in now to
apply nationwide.

Judges' criticisms squashed

In fact, misgivings about the projected bill were first
voiced several months ago by the judges association,
lkahi which argued in a statement that members of their
profession would find it difficult to resist (government)
interference in their determination of verdicts if they
continue to be civil servants. The organisation was
quickly forced to retract when General Ali Said publicly
denounced their statement as being "absurd" and a
"rehash" of earlier complaints. (Tempo, 8 June)

(Source: Kompas, 2 September and Tempo, 7 September)
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conference himself. Speaking at the UN General Assembly
on 23 September, he stressed, in relation to Portugal's
bilateral talks with Indonesia, that self-determination
for East Timor "is the core of the question". He also
said that respect for human rights in East Timor is
8till far from meeting our expectations'. (AP, 23
September)

Another sign of shifting attitudes among Socialist
Party politicians who hope to win both the forthcoming
parliomentary and presidential elections came with a
statement by Minister of State, Antonio Almedia Santos,
the party's candidate for prime minister. In an interview
on 31 August in Faro, he said: "Portugal has a moral
obligation which it cannot decline and it will continue
to be faithful to this and work within the bounds of
possibility so that self-determination for the people of

East Timor can be achieved."(Jakarta Post, 2 September)

Prime Minister Soares' meeting with Mgr Belo, Apostolic
Administrator of Dili (see separate item) may have also
contributed to reversing his earlier feeble attitude
towards East Timor.

Portugal mdkes formal contact with Fretilin

On 24 September, the Portuguese Foreign Minister held a
formal meeting in New York with Fretilin's representative
to the UN, Jose Ramos Horta. This is the first time such
formal contact has been made and could mark a new
departure in the negotiations currently taking place
between Portugal ond Indonesia under UN auspices
regarding the future of East Timor, which have until now
excluded East Timorese participation.

East Timor ruins Indonesia's bid to host 1986 Non-Aligned Summit

An even more damaging dént in Indonesia's battered
image was inflicted ot the September conference of
foreign ministers of the Non-Aligned Movement held in
Luanda, the capital of a country that has consistently
supported East Timor against Indonesia.

The first blow came when, for the first time in the
history of the Non-Aligned Movement, a Fretilin
delegation was invited to attend the opening session
along with other liberation movements, resulting in a
furious row with the Indonesian delegation. The draft
political declaration circulated in advance of the
meeting by the Angolan government as the host, included a
three-paragraph statement on East Timor calling among
other things for East Timorese participation in the UN
consultations.

On his departure for Luanda, flanked by a huge
delegation of senior officials, Foreign Minister Mochtar
declared that "the main task of the Indonesian delegation
this time is to eliminate the East Timor question from
the draft declaration”. (Kompas, 30 August) But Mochtar
had anether 'main task' which was to push through a
decision that Indonesia would host next year's Non-
Aligned Sunmit and chair the movement till 1989. The
controversy over East Timor proved to be the stumbling-
block to this ambition.

Indonesia has made no secret of its desire to host the
1986 Non-Aligned Movement conference. The idea was first
mooted by the Malaysian Prime Minister during a visit to
Jokarta last year, and as the l_uanda meeting drew near,
the idea was more and more enthusiastically promoted by
Foreign Department spokesmen.

A few weeks before the meeting, Mochtar announced at
his weekly press conference that "Indonesio is prepored
to host the 1986 surrmit conference of the Non-Aligned
Movement if requested at next month's meeting". (Jakarta
Post, 12 August) A few weeks later however, he was forced
to admit that this was unlikely to happen as one
criterion is that the host government is not in conflict
with another member of the bloc. Even so, he could not
abandon the ideo because Suharto himself was determined
to become the Movement’s chairman (maybe he thinks he

isn't likely to get another chance!) and, as every
government minister in Indonesia knows,. Suharto's wishes
are paramount. This was to have been the crowning ylory
of Indonesia's recent posturing as a 'major world power'.
Indeed, it was recently acknowledged that the elaborate
gathering held to mark the 30th onniversary of the
Bandung Conference last April was intended primarily as a
'dress rehearsal' for the 1986 Non-Aligned Sunmit.

On his arrival at Luanda airport, Mochtar again
announced that Indonesia was seeking the chairmanship,
and while the conference was in progress, back home in
Jokarta, General Amir Machmud, chairman of Indonesia's
legislative assembly, announced after an audience with
Suhorto that Indonesia "should ogree (sic) to host the
coming Non-Bloc sunmit conference” (Kompas, é September)
Unfortunately for Suharto however, things were not going
Mochtar's way in Luanda.

East Timor proved to be the most hotly debated issue in
Luanda, more controversial even than the debate over the
Iran-Iraq conflict. "Fretilin," writes Jill Joliffe (Far
Eastern Economic Review, 19 September) "was principally
supported by the five Portuguese-speaking African
countries, Vietnam, Laos and Vanuatu, What they lacked in
numbers they made up for in commitment: the fight to keep
the reference in (the draft decloration) resulted in the
most heated debate of the conference."

Indonesia lobbied hard and argued primarily on formal
grounds, that East Timor had been deleted from the 1983
Political Declaration at the Non-Bloc Surrmit in Delhi and
could not be restored. When a vote was tdken, Indonesia
mustered a majority, but this did not result in the issve
being dropped. Policy decisions by the Non-Aligned
Movement con only be taken by consensus, with the result
that the three-paragraph reference was kept in the
Political Declaration with a note that consensus was not
reached. And Zimbobwe was chosen as next year's host.

Indonesia's cherished ambition to host the 1986 sunmit
conference was shattered by an issue it has tried for so
long to consign to "the dustbin of history". And to ram
home the defeat, it has now been announced (Far Eastern
Economic Review, 26 September) that the question of East
Timor has been included on the agenda of the 1984 surrmit.

Fretilin's message to the Luanda conference

Amessage to the Non-AlignedForeignMinisters conference
which was held in Luanda, from Xanana, chairman of the
Revolution Council of National Resistance was transmitted
by radio to Darwin on 1 September, in time for delivery
at the conference which opened on 4 September.

After welcoming the Non-Aligned Movement's principles
of non-violence ond stressing the need for dialogue to
resolve conflicts, Xanana gave a brief history of East
Timor's 10-year struggle against Indonesian aggression.

Turning to the present situation, he says:

The vile and barbarous aggressor continues to massacre
and torture the population with impunity, persecuting and
threatening (people) with death, searching houses and
people, prohibiting travel and demanding travel passes
and controlling even the smallest concentration camps,
with lower rank troops in each camp and higher rank
troops in each village. Even so, the population is forced
to provide security at night for the cowardly occupiers.
Each day, everyone - from the elderly to the children -
is forced to do so, with threats of reprisals for each
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Fretilin attack. Such reprisals occurred in Iliomar last
January when over 40 civilians were shot by the
occupiers, and last May in Viqueque where the enemy
position inside the camp killed over 50 civilians with
mortars and grenades concentrated near a building.

This is the constant threat hanging over the East
Timorese population, the real face of military control by
the occupation forces. The herded population, unable to
survive without crops, tries to escape the vigilance and
control of the enemy in order to scavenge for food in the
bush, facing the risk of being caught by patrols and
massacred on suspicion of being in contact with Fretilin.

On the misuse of relief aid from abroad, he says:

The resources of UNESCO are being used to serve
Indonesian policy. The women whose husbands were
massacred by the Indonesians and who agree not to work
for the resistance and to spy for the Indonesians are the
ones who receive the food, tins of condensed milk and
rotten corn.

The liberation movement is very bitter about the
favourable reports produced by government delegations
that have visited East Timor under Indonesian auspices:

Several governments who use the rhetoric of human
rights are in fact accomplices in the crimes committed in
East Timor. Indonesia has spread false propaganda,
claiming absolute control of East Timor, seeking thereby
to guarantee total impunity for its policy of genocide
and occupation carried out in our homeland. Several
delegations manipulated by Jakarta have given false
testimony about the real situvation in East Timor. Tanks
and assault vehicles are hidden outside the towns, war
materials are stored (away) and the occupation troops
wear civilian claothes while a few privileged Timorese are
made to perform for rupiahs to impress the visitors.
Prisoners are transferred to other locations and strong
security placed around the towns, The population is
threatened and told not to speak, and security prevents
them approaching the visitors. These are different
aspects of a farce repeatedly used by the murderous
occupiers of our homeland. In fact, when foreign visitors

ask (questions) about massacres, they are asking the
torturers and the puppet governor.

Fretilin is particularly angry about the Australian
government's stand, warning that Hawke's sfa.fement ?f 16
August will encourage Jdkarta to infens:fy' military
operations against the population. This political an.d
diplomatic support will encourage the military to c?mmf
even more atrocities against a defenceless population:

Recently, the Australian government pronounced an
irresponsible and unscrupulous policy, recognising the
military control and brutal repression of our people as
supposed Indonesian sovereignty over £ast Timor, with the
intention of facilitating negotiations with Jakarta about
exploration for deposits of oil and natural gas Iin our
southern sea. We totally repudiate the idea that
humanitarian concern motivates the Australian government
in this dirty political manoeuvre to cover up economic
interests. In the concrete case of the Timor Gap, the
rights of the East Timorese people have been usurped in
this operation.

The message makes a strong appeal to the Non-Aligned
Movement to condemn Indonesian aggression and makes the
following proposals:

1) To allow entry of independent observers to study the

real situvation in East Timor.

2) To allow entry of humanitarian organisations to give

direct assistance to the needy population with clothing

and medicine.

3) To consider the proposals for a solution put forward

by Fretilin.

The message in conclusion recalls the original spirit
of the Non-Aligned Movement, putting emphasis on its
anti-colonial and anti-imperialist struggle:

Due to the character of the Non-Aligned Movement, the
Jjust struggle of this small and defenceless Maubere
people is an integral part of the liberation struggles of
peoples of the Third World against imperialism and
colonialism and against the expansionist ambitions of the
big nations who wish to subjugate by force small and
frail peoples. We are confident that you will give due
consideration to the sufferings of the oppressed people
of East Timor who for ten years have resisted Indonesia's
genocidal war of occupation.

Catholic Church's concern for East Timor grows

The low-profile visit of Mgr Carlos Ximenes Belo,
Apostolic Administrator of Dili, to the Vatican in June
this year led to speculations that he may be seeking
asylum abroad. Only since his return have the facts about
the activities of the leader of the East Timor Church
while abroad become public.

Mgr Belo's efforts to seek a just solution for East
Timor were revealed in an interview with Jacques Guillon,
AFP correspondent in Jakarta, just before returning to
Dili. He told AFP he had gone abroad "to try to launch
new negotiations between Fretilin and indonesia". When he
met the Pope on 5 July, the Pope told him "to work for
the Church, to fight the suffering of the people and to
seek for a right solution for peace in Timor." He quoted
the Pope as saying: "Now, Timor represents the most
difficult problem in the world."

It is very difficult to know the real facts "because
there is no free information in Timor". Regarding recent
visits of journalists and diplomats to East Timor, he
said that their reports were of little significance.
"Even if these people are independent, they cannot say
the truth because they are too closely guarded to see the
truth." He only wished visitors could see more than the
Indonesian military wanted them to see, that "they will
be able to go into the villages and discuss freely with
the population and not always with the governor, the
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miiitary chief and the bishop (ie. himself)".

He also explained how carefully he had to manoeuvre. It
had taken him 7 months to obtain clearance from the
military to go abroad. This was why he kept a low profile
while abroad: "I didn't want to speck with journalists in
Rome because | know 1 could have difficulties getting
back to Dili."

( AFP report, 8 August telex from Hongkong)

Mgr Belo meets Portuguese leaders

Mgr Belo also made a brief, unannounced visit to Lisbon
and while there sought appointments with President Eanes
and Prime Minister Soares. Fearing that he was being
followed by Indonesian secret agents, he met the Prime
Minister and the President's personal aide at the
Vatican's diplomatic mission where he had sought
diplomatic protection.

He informed them of the serious situation and the
continued fighting, proven by (Indonesian) graves
regularly filling up in Dili cemetery. He himself had
officiated at o series of burials of Indonesich Catholic
officers. When asked by Prime Minister Soares about the
cormrmunist nature of Fretilin, Mgr Belo who is known not
to be sympathetic towards Fretilin, dismissed the claim
as nonsensical. He soid they were pure nationalists.
(Jill Jolliffe in The Age, 4 September)

Continued opposite


















Continued from page 25

Teluk Ratai Base in South Sumatra will be developed into
a model naval base and is due to start functioning by the
end of this century. Its main operational function will
be protecting the Sunda Straits as the gateway to the
Indian Ocean. A special team of engineers has been
recruited to design this base, maoking it the most
advanced naval base in the region.

Teluk Ratai has been chosen to replace the Surabaya
Naval Base which is at present the Navy's main base.
Surabaya, one of Indonesia's busiest commercial harbours
and o centre for heavy sea traffic, is no longer
considered suitable for naval operations, in particular
for secret ship movements. Teluk Ratai, a relatively
isolated and quiet orea, offers a far more favourable
alternative.

The Bitung Base in Menado, North Sulawesi is to become
a ‘forword base' protecting the frontiers in times of
conflict along the line connecting the Malacca Strait,
the Sulawesi Sea and the Sulu Sea. While no-one mentions
the country regarded by Indonesian military strategists
as the likely 'threat', it is not difficult to conclude
that they have a post-Marcos Philippines in mind.

Ambon is the headquarters of the fifth naval base,
controlling the rich waters of the Moluccas with special
emphasis on the Banda Seq, richer than any other sea in
the world for its variety of fish.

A major 20-year expansion programme has been launched
to build the Navy along the lines envisaged. New orders
for naval vessels have already been placed, two mine-
sweepers from Holland, additional Type-209 submarines
from West Germany and a series of PSK Mk5-class patrol
boats some of which are on order from South Korea, the
remainder ore to be built locally at the Surabaya
shipyard, PT PAL.

The Air Force

The Air Force has also been rationalised into two
operational commands, Operational Corrmand I (Koopsau I)
based in Jaokarto and Operational Command 11 (Koopsau II)
based in Ujung Pandang. Under the new structure, all air
bases or Lanud (Pangkalan Udara) will assume the same
responsibilities and will be equipped with the same
number of jet fighter squadrons.

According to Air Chief-of-Staff, Air Marshall Sukardi,
two factors have determined the choice of air-base
locations - protecting the vital, strategic industrial
centres and protecting the so-called rawan (security-
prone) regions. The emphasis for the air-bases in the
Western Koopsau | will be on attack squadrons while the
Eastern Koopsau 11 will rely more on patrol squadrons for
reconnaisance. This indicates that the military
strategists regard the Asion mainland, primarily Vietnam
and China, as the danger oreas rather than countries on
the periphery of their eastern waters, the Philippines
and Avustralia.

Pakan Ajr Base will occupy a vital position situoted at
the crossroads between the Malacca Strait and the South
China Sea. A new forward base called Ranai Air Base is
being developed on the Natuna islands, with another one
on Weh Island, the most western tip of the Indonesian
archipelago.

The main jet fighter currently being used by the Air
Force is still the A-4 Skyhawk but ABRI chiefs are
anxiously looking for a far more advanced aircraft like
the F16, the F20 or the Mirage 2000. In the east, the Air
Force will rely more on the slower Bronco OV10 and the
Boeing 737-200, equipped with side-looking radar, to keep
a lookout over the vast seas around Sulawesi, the
Moluccas and the Lesser Sunda Islands.

Air Force personnel will also be cut in number, with
special emphasis on the Air Force Special Conmand which
was formerly known as Kopasgat (Quick Reaction Forces
Command), now to be called Paskhasau (Pasukan Khusus TNI -
AU or Special Air Forcee Troops).

Centralised control

Operationally, the Navy and the Air Force will be
firmly under the control of the ABRI commander, General
Benny Murdanl. The chiefs-of-staff of these two forces
are non-vocal, colourless professionals by contrast with
the Army chief-of-staff, General Rudini, and other senior
Army commanderswho often project a very public image. As
far as these two forces are concerned, the emphasis is on
the purchase of modern equipment and advanced technology.
In the words of one naval officer, whereas in the Army,
the focus is on manpower and the weapons needed to arm
them (orang yang dipersenjatai), for the Navy and the Air
Force, it is the hardware and weapons systems that count
and the personnel needed to man them (senjata yang
diawaki). Both forces will inevitably become
technologically top-heavy.

Some non-military ABRI-watchers have expressed doubts
about the ability of these two forces to cope with the
advanced systems now under consideration for their use.
The maintenance, operational and coordination
requirements for these 'mew toys' are formidable but if
the ABRI leadership have their way and western arms
exporters succeed in winning the orders they want, this
is where much of Indonesia's diminishing stock of foreign
currency will be spent.

Next issue: Part VI. Purchasing weapaons for ABRI.

* Part I appeared in Bulletin 69. Part II appeared in
Bulletin 70,

Stop Press

A fire almost completely gutted the studios of the
Nusantara 111 network of Radio Republic Indonesia (RRI)
in Banjarmasin, the capital of South Kalimantan, on 27
September. This follows a huge fire which completely
destroyed RRI's central studios in Jakarta two months
ago, on 20 July. (See TAPOL Bulletin No 70, July 1985)

Despite calls from various circles including people in
the Army's political party, GOLKAR, the government has
offered no explanation for the causes of the Jakarta RRI
fire. The latest incident reinforces the impression that
dissident groups may be directing their efforts at one of
the regime's most powerful means of propaganda.

L ]

Subscriptions

Annual rates
(six issues)

UK,Europe and Dverseas/

oversess/surface airmail
Individuals £ 7.50 £10.00
Institutions £12.00 £14.00

Overseas subscribers please add £1.50 on cheques not
drawn on a London bank, to cover bank charges.

Rates for Australisn subscribers:

Seamail Airmail
Individual A$14.00 A$19.00
Institutions A$22.00 A$26.00

Australian subscribers may pay, at these rates, to:
Eleanor Tan
11 Lyric Grove,
Camberwell, Victoria 3124

TAPOL's Giro account no: 56 781 4009

Subscriptions and correspondence to:
TAPOL
8a Treport Street,
London SW18 28P
(01) 874 3262

28 TAPOL Bulletin No. 71, September 1985



